# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-21-2014

# Grist v. State Appellant's Brief 1 Dckt. 41409

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Nature of the Case

Harold Grist, Jr. is appealing from the district court's partial summary dismissal and denial after evidentiary hearing of his petition for post-conviction relief. R 172-174.

The order of partial summary dismissal should be reversed because the district court summarily dismissed Mr. Grist's claims regarding juror bias on grounds not noted by the state in its motion and briefing in support of summary judgment without giving Mr. Grist independent 20-day notice of its intent to dismiss. I.C. § 19-4906(b). *Buss v. State*, 147 Idaho 514, 517, 211 P.3d 123, 126 (Ct. App. 2009). Moreover, the court incorrectly concluded that the due process issue could have been raised in direct appeal and then applied an incorrect standard of review. *United States v. Keating*, 147 F.3rd 895, 901-02 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998).

Additionally, the district court summarily dismissed Mr. Grist's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to file a meritorious Rule 35 motion on grounds not cited by the state in either its motion or briefing in support of summary dismissal without giving independent 20-day notice. Therefore, the order of partial summary dismissal should be reversed as to this claim and remanded for further proceedings. I.C. § 19-4906(b). *Buss, supra.* 

Lastly, the order dismissing Mr. Grist's claims relative to the unconstitutional use of a psychosexual evaluation obtained in violation of the Fifth and Sixth Amendments should be reversed because the district court erred in not analyzing the claim as both an ineffective assistance of counsel claim and as an independent Fifth Amendment violation subject to the constitutional harmless error standard of *Chapman v. California*, 366 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824 (1967). *DeRushé v. State*, 146 Idaho 599, 604, 200 P.3d 1148, 1153 (2008).

### B. Procedural History and Statement of Facts

As set out in *State v. Grist*, 152 Idaho 768, 275 P.3d 12 (Ct. App. 2012), in 2005, Mr. Grist was charged with seven counts of lewd conduct, I.C. § 18-1508, one count of sexual abuse, I.C. § 18-1506(1)(b), and two counts of sexual battery of a minor, I.C. § 18-1508A. In 2006, a jury found Mr. Grist guilty. However, the Idaho Supreme Court vacated the judgment of conviction and remanded for a new trial. *State v. Grist*, 147 Idaho 49, 205 P.3d 1185 (2009). On retrial, the jury again convicted and Mr. Grist again appealed. *Grist*, 152 Idaho 786, 275 P.3d 12. In that appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction but held that Mr. Grist's due process rights were violated when the district court imposed a longer determinate sentence after the retrial. Rather than remanding for resentencing, the Court of Appeals itself modified Mr. Grist's sentence. *Id*.

Of relevance to this case, a psychosexual evaluation was prepared for sentencing after the first trial. Tr. 5/10/13 p. 8, ln. 11 - p. 10, ln. 15. That evaluation was not updated after the second trial, but was relied upon by the district court in imposing the sentence after that trial. Tr. 5/10/13 p. 15, ln. 8-22.

Following the 2012 direct appeal, Mr. Grist filed a timely *pro se* petition for post-conviction relief. R 13-19. Mr. Grist's petition raised four claims, three of which are relevant to this appeal:

- 1. Violation of the constitutional right to due process because Juror Hendrickson knew Mr. Grist prior to trial and was a co-worker with the complaining witness's mother (Mr. Grist's ex-partner);
  - 2. Violation of the right to due process because the district court relied upon an outdated

psychosexual evaluation which was obtained in violation of Mr. Grist's Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination and his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel; and

3. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel in failing to file a meritable Rule 35 motion. R 14-19.

The state never filed an answer, but did file a motion for summary dismissal. R 30-31. The motion stated only that the petition should be dismissed "as it presents no genuine issue of material fact and the Respondent is entitled to judgment as a matter of law pursuant to Idaho Code § 19-4906(c)." R 30.

The state also filed a brief in support of its motion. R 32-42. With regard to Mr. Grist's claim that his right to due process had been violated by Juror Hendrickson's participation, the state argued, "There was no due process violation because there was no bias against petitioner." R 35. The state wrote:

Petitioner's assertion that he was prejudiced by Mr. Hendrickson is without merit. Mr. Hendrickson was merely an acquaintance and did not have familial relationship or relationship of control over Petitioner or Ms. Offins; he was merely an acquaintance from work and had no personal relationship with either party. In addition, he affirmed that there would be nothing to prevent him from being impartial or unfair (sic) to the parties. Because Mr. Hendrickson affirmed that he could be fair, the court will not refute his opinion. Therefore, contrary to Petitioner's assertions, Mr. Hendrickson's presence on the jury did not bias or harm the impartiality of the proceedings.

R 37.

The state's brief did not address Mr. Grist's claim of violation of his Fifth Amendment rights in use of the psychosexual evaluation at sentencing. R 32-42.

With regard to claims of ineffective assistance of counsel in not objecting to the use of the unconstitutionally obtained PSE, the state argued that counsel had acted in a reasonable manner and that the record demonstrated no prejudice from use of the PSE. R 38-40.

The state did not make any argument about Mr. Grist's claim of ineffective assistance in failing to file a meritable Rule 35 motion. R 32-42.

Mr. Grist, through counsel, filed a reply to the state's motion and brief. R 52-57.

Following a hearing, the district court granted in part and denied in part the state's motion. R 66-76.

The court granted summary dismissal of Mr. Grist's claim that his right to due process was violated by the presence of Mr. Hendrickson on the jury. The court cited two reasons for summary dismissal: 1) that the issue should have been raised on direct appeal and was not; and 2) that "this is not an issue for which there is a substantial factual showing that the Petitioner's assertions raise a substantial doubt about the reliability of the finding of guilt in this case." R 70.

The district court denied the state's motion with regard to claims about the improper use of the psychosexual evaluation from the first trial in the sentencing of the second trial. The court set an evidentiary hearing to address whether counsel in the first trial advised Mr. Grist of his Fifth Amendment rights prior to participation in the PSE and whether counsel in the second trial adequately advised Mr. Grist regarding his rights pertaining to the use of the PSE in sentencing after the second trial. R 72-73.

The district court summarily dismissed Mr. Grist's claim that counsel was ineffective in not filing a meritable Rule 35 motion on the grounds that "there is no evidence presented that a meritable Rule 35 motion would have changed the outcome of this case." R 74.

In the court's order, the court *sua sponte* took judicial notice of the underlying criminal case. R 67, ftnt. 1. Later, the court issued a separate order for admission of trial transcripts. R

100-101.

At the evidentiary hearing, counsel from the first trial testified that he did not advise Mr. Grist of his Fifth Amendment rights prior to his participation in the court ordered PSE. Tr. 5/10/13, p. 8, ln. 11-23. Counsel from the second trial testified that Mr. Grist declined to participate in a second PSE and that he could not recall making any objection or having any discussion with Mr. Grist regarding the use of the first PSE in the second sentencing hearing. Tr. 5/10/13, p. 15, ln. 11 - p. 16, ln. 1. Mr. Grist testified that counsel in the second sentencing hearing did not object to the use of the PSE prepared after the first trial without advisement of his Fifth Amendment rights. Tr. 5/10/13, p. 20, ln. 2-4.

Following the hearing, Mr. Grist filed a brief in support of his petition wherein he again argued that there was both a Fifth Amendment violation of the right against self-incrimination and a Sixth Amendment violation of the right to effective assistance of counsel. R 104.

Thereafter, the district court entered an order denying post-conviction relief. R 155-170. In its order, the court stated that the sole issue before it was whether Mr. Grist had received ineffective assistance of counsel when counsel failed to object to the use of the 2006 PSE at sentencing following the second trial in 2009. R 158-159. The court concluded that counsel rendered deficient performance, but further concluded that Mr. Grist had not established that but for counsel's deficient performance the outcome of the criminal case would have been different. R 168. Therefore, post-conviction relief was denied. *Id*.

After much delay, a final judgment in appropriate form was entered. See this Court's Order to Reinstate Appellate Proceedings, entered March 14, 2014.

This appeal timely follows. R 172-174.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the district court err in summarily dismissing Mr. Grist's claim that he was denied due process by the presence of Mr. Hendrickson on the jury on grounds not asserted in the state's motion and brief for summary judgment without giving Mr. Grist 20-days notice and an opportunity to respond as required by I.C. § 19-4906(b)?
- 2. Did the district court err in summarily dismissing Mr. Grist's claim that he was denied due process by the presence of Mr. Hendrickson on the jury on the basis that the claim should have been raised on direct appeal and that he had not shown a substantial doubt about the reliability of the finding of guilt when the claim could not have been raised on direct appeal and when the proper standard is whether the state can show beyond a reasonable doubt that extrinsic evidence did not contribute to the jury's verdict?
- 3. Did the district court err in summarily dismissing Mr. Grist's claim that counsel was ineffective in failing to file a meritable Rule 35 motion without proper notice per I.C. § 19-4906?
- 4. Did the district court err in failing to address Mr. Grist's stand alone Fifth Amendment claim relating to the improper use of the PSE at the second sentencing and should relief be granted on the Fifth Amendment claim because the state has not shown beyond a reasonable doubt that the consideration of the PSE did not affect the sentence imposed?

#### III. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Erred in Summarily Dismissing Mr. Grist's Due Process Claim Without Proper Notice

The district court dismissed Mr. Grist's claim for post-conviction relief based on the denial of due process by the presence of Mr. Hendrickson on the jury on grounds other than the

grounds set out in the state's motion for summary disposition. Therefore, the dismissal was *sua sponte* and without proper notice. The appropriate remedy is reversal of the order of dismissal and remand for further proceedings.

The applicable law is set out in *Buss v. State, supra*:

Pursuant to I.C. § 19-4906(b), the district court may sua sponte dismiss an applicant's post-conviction claims if the court provides the applicant with notice of its intent to do so, the ground or grounds upon which the claim is to be dismissed, and twenty days for the applicant to respond. Pursuant to I.C. § 19-4906(c), if the state files and serves a properly supported motion to dismiss, further notice from the court is ordinarily unnecessary. Saykhamchone v. State, 127 Idaho 319, 322, 900 P.2d 795, 798 (1995). The reason that subsection (b), but not section (c), requires a twenty-day notice by the court of intent to dismiss is that, under subsection (c), the motion itself serves as notice that summary dismissal is being sought. Id. Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure 7(b)(1) requires that the grounds of a motion be stated with 'particularity.' See DeRushé v. State, 146 Idaho 599, 200 P.3d 1148 (2009) (reiterating the requirement of reasonable particularity in post-conviction cases.) If the state's motion fails to give such notice of the grounds for dismissal, the court may grant summary dismissal only if the court first gives the applicant the requisite twenty-day notice of intent to dismiss and the ground therefore pursuant to I.C. § 19-4906(b). See Saykhamchone, 127 Idaho at 322, 900 P.2d at 798. Similarly, where the state has filed a motion for summary disposition, but the court dismisses the application on grounds different from those asserted in the state's motion, it does so on its own initiative and the court must provide the twenty-day notice.

147 Idaho at 517, 211 P.3d at 126 (footnotes omitted). *See also, Kelly v. State*, 149 Idaho 517, 523, 236 P.3d 1277, 1283 (2010) ("Thus, where a trial court dismissed a claim based upon grounds other than those offered – by the State's motion for summary dismissal, and accompanying memoranda — the defendant seeking post-conviction relief must be provided with a 20-day notice period.")

With regard to Mr. Grist's due process claim, the state's brief argued for summary dismissal because "Mr. Hendrickson's presence on the jury did not bias or harm the impartiality

of the proceedings." The district court dismissed the claim because the issue should have been raised on direct appeal and was not and "this is not an issue for which there is a substantial factual showing that the Petitioner's assertions raise a substantial doubt about the reliability of the finding of guilt in this case." R 70.

Because the district court dismissed on grounds different than those set out by the state in its motion and brief without giving independent 20-day notice, the order of summary dismissal should be reversed and the case remanded for further proceedings on this claim.

# B. The District Court Further Erred in Dismissing the Due Process Claim Based Upon the Wrong Standard

The district court not only summarily dismissed Mr. Grist's due process claim without proper notice; the court also dismissed the claim based upon the wrong standards. The district court dismissed the claim because it concluded that the claim should have been raised on direct appeal and because it concluded that Mr. Grist had failed to raise a substantial doubt about the reliability of the finding of guilt. Both these conclusions are contrary to the applicable law.

Mr. Grist's claim that his due process rights had been violated by Mr. Henderickson's presence on the jury could only be proven if he could establish that Mr. Henderickson influenced the jury through introduction of extraneous prejudicial information. *See* IRE 606(b). To obtain a new trial based upon juror misconduct, "the defendant must present clear and convincing evidence that the misconduct has occurred." *State v. Strange*, 147 Idaho 686, 689, 214 P.3d 672, 675 (Ct. App. 2009). Because evidentiary proof is required, this is a claim that is appropriately raised in a petition for post-conviction relief. *Campbell v. State*, 130 Idaho 546, 549-550, 944 P.2d 143, 146-147 (Ct. App. 1997).

Furthermore, the proper legal standard for determining prejudice in cases wherein jurors have been exposed to extraneous information or other improper influences is "whether the information reasonably could have produced prejudice, when evaluated in light of all the events and the evidence at trial." *Roll v. City of Middleton*, 115 Idaho 833, 837, 771 P.2d 54, 58 (Ct. App. 1989).

There the Ninth Circuit noted that if a juror communicated information to the other jurors based on his/her prior knowledge of the defendant, the juror was in effect testifying against the defendant in violation of his Sixth Amendment rights. Thus, the defendant is entitled to a new trial if there is a reasonable possibility that the communication could have affected the verdict. The inquiry is objective; the court need not ascertain whether the extrinsic evidence actually influenced any specific juror. The government bears the burden of showing beyond a reasonable doubt that extrinsic evidence did not contribute to the verdict.

In this case, the district court incorrectly concluded that Mr. Grist's claim that his due process rights were violated by Mr. Henderickson's presence on the jury could not be heard in post-conviction proceedings and further applied an incorrect legal standard in determining that even if the claim could be heard it lacked merit. On this basis also, the order of summary dismissal should be reversed.

C. The District Court Erred in Summarily Dismissing Mr. Grist's Claim of Ineffective

Assistance of Counsel in Failing to File a Meritable Rule 35 Motion Without Proper

Notice

As set out above, a district court errs when it summarily dismisses a claim on grounds not noted by the state in its motion or briefing for summary dismissal without giving its own 20-day

notice. I.C. § 19-4906(b); *Buss, supra.* In this case, the state did not offer any reasons why Mr. Grist's ineffective assistance of counsel claim relative to the Rule 35 motion should be summarily dismissed. However, the district court dismissed because "there is no evidence presented that a meritable Rule 35 motion would have changed the outcome of this case." R 74. Again, this was a dismissal without proper notice. That portion of the order of summary dismissal should be reversed and the matter remanded for further proceedings.

D. The District Court Erred in Failing to Address Mr. Grist's Stand Alone Fifth Amendment Claim Relating to the Improper Use of the PSE at the Second Sentencing

Mr. Grist's petition raised this claim:

Petitioner's right to due process was violated by the court allowing and using an outdated psychosexual evaluation that was ordered and prepared in violation of the Petitioner's 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> Amendment rights as found under the U.S. Constitution.

R 15.

This claim clearly raised violations of both the Fifth Amendment and the Sixth Amendment. However, in denying the claim, the court only analyzed the claim as a Sixth Amendment claim: "The sole issue before this Court is whether counsel was ineffective at sentencing for failing to object to the court's review of the 2006 psychosexual examination." R 168. In failing to address the separate Fifth Amendment claim, the district court erred and reversal of the denial of relief is required. *See DeRushé v. State, supra*, holding that the district court erred in analyzing the petitioner's claim of a Fifth Amendment violation as only a Sixth Amendment ineffective assistance of counsel claim, vacating the denial of relief, and remanding for further proceedings.

In analyzing Mr. Grist's Sixth Amendment claim, the district court did find that counsel

was deficient in failing to object to the district court's consideration of the PSE at the second sentencing hearing because the PSE was obtained without advisement of Mr. Grist's Fifth Amendment rights. R 168. Implicit in this conclusion is the conclusion that an objection to the use of the PSE would have been sustained because use of the PSE would violate the Fifth Amendment.

The district court then looked to see if, in accord with *Strickland's* requirements, Mr. Grist had established prejudice. R 168. The court looked to *Hughes v. State*, 148 Idaho 448, 224 P.3d 515 (Ct. App. 2009), and determined that "the Petitioner must also establish that but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the criminal case would be different. In this case, the burden is on the Petitioner to establish that the sentence imposed would have been different." R 168. The court then concluded that Mr. Grist had not carried this burden. *Id*.

However, when a claim is raised as a direct violation of a constitutional right once the petitioner establishes the violation, the burden shifts to the state to demonstrate that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Chapman v. California*, 366 U.S. 18, 23-24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 828 (1967), "[B]efore a federal constitutional error can be held harmless, the court must be able to declare a belief that it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." *See also, State v. Darbin*, 109 Idaho 516, 522, 708 P.2d 921, 927 (Ct. App. 1985); *Rossignol v. State*, 152 Idaho 700, 271 P.3d 1 (Ct. App. 2012).

In this case Mr. Grist pled both a Fifth Amendment and a Sixth Amendment violation. The district court erred in not considering the Fifth Amendment violation. As in *DeRushé*, the order denying post-conviction relief should be vacated and the matter remanded for further proceedings.

## V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Mr. Grist asks that this Court reverse the order of partial summary dismissal and the order denying post-conviction relief and remand with directions for further proceedings in the district court.