Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-18-2014

Grist v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41409

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

support of this claim and he did not elaborate on the claim in response to the state's motion, instead asserting he had "nothing to add to what [was] already said in his petition." (R., p.55.) In fact, it appears post-conviction counsel agreed that Grist's Rule 35 did not warrant an evidentiary hearing, advising the court at the hearing on the state's motion for summary dismissal that, although he was not "withdrawing" any of Grist's claims, he only intended to pursue the claims he believed were supported by a "valid legal or factual theory," which did not include Grist's Rule 35 claim. (10/18/2012 Tr., p.10, L.14 – p.11, L.10.)

Grist's only argument on appeal related to this claim is that he did not receive "proper notice" of the grounds for dismissal since "the state did not offer any reasons why [his] ineffective assistance of counsel claim relative to the Rule 35 motion should be summarily dismissed," but the court did. (Appellant's Brief, p.10.) To the contrary, the state contended Grist failed to allege a genuine issue of material fact and failed to establish deficient performance or prejudice. (R., pp.30, 35.) That the court elaborated on Grist's failure to meet his burden does not mean it dismissed on a different ground than that asserted by the state. Grist's claim to the contrary is without merit. As explained in <u>DeRushé v. State</u>, 146 Idaho 599, 601-602, 200 P.3d 1148, 1150-1151 (2009) (citations omitted):

If the ground for summary disposition is that assertions by the applicant are not admissible evidence, stating the ground with reasonable particularity requires no more than the level of particularity required to object to the admissibility of that evidence, such as that it is conclusory, hearsay, or lacking foundation. It is rarely necessary to further explain those objections. If the ground for summary disposition is that there is no admissible evidence on an essential element of a claim, reasonable particularity only requires pointing that out. For example, claims of ineffective assistance of defense counsel or of prosecutorial misconduct in

withholding evidence favorable to the accused both require prejudice to the defendant. Reasonable particularity only requires pointing out that there is a lack of evidence showing prejudice. It does not require explaining what further evidence is necessary, particularly since it may not exist.

Further, to the extent Grist believes the state's motion did not address his Rule 35 claim with sufficient particularity, he was "represented by counsel," and "should have raised that issue below." DeRushé, 146 Idaho at 602, 200 P.3d at 1151. There is no indication in Grist's response to the state's motion that he did not understand that the state believed his Rule 35 claim was subject to dismissal for failing to establish a genuine issue of material fact on deficient performance and prejudice. (See R., p.55.) Indeed, at no time during the 15-month period between the court's partial summary dismissal order and the final judgment did Grist complain about the inadequacy or lack of any notice in relation to dismissal of that claim or make an effort to establish a genuine issue of material fact that counsel was ineffective in relation to his Rule 35 motion. This Court should decline to consider, for the first time on appeal, any claim of error related to the particularity of the state's motion. DeRushé, supra.

Grist has failed to show any error in the summary dismissal of his third post-conviction claim.

This Court Should Decline Grist's Request To Remand For Consideration Of His Alleged Freestanding Fifth Amendment Claim Because He Did Not Request A Ruling From The Trial Court On Such A Claim And Review Of His Petition Shows

That He Did Not Plead Such A Claim

A. Introduction

Grist contends the district court erred in "failing to address [his] stand alone Fifth Amendment claim relating to the improper use of the PSE at the second sentencing." (Appellant's Brief, p.10 (capitalization altered).) This Court should decline to consider Grist's argument because he did not request a ruling from the district court on his alleged freestanding Fifth Amendment claim as required by I.R.C.P. 52(b). Further, the record shows that Grist's petition does not allege such a claim; therefore, the court did not err in failing to rule on it.

B. Standard Of Review

A petitioner for post-conviction relief has the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, the allegations on which his claim is based. Idaho Criminal Rule 57(c); Estes v. State, 111 Idaho 430, 436, 725 P.2d 135, 141 (1986). A trial court's decision that the petitioner has not met his burden of proof is entitled to great weight. Sanders v. State, 117 Idaho 939, 940, 792 P.2d 964, 965 (Ct. App. 1990). Further, the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given to the testimony are matters within the discretion of the trial court. Rueth v. State, 103 Idaho 74, 644 P.2d 1333 (1982).

C. <u>Grist Has Failed To Show Any Basis For Remanding For Consideration Of His Alleged "Stand Alone" Fifth Amendment Claim</u>

In his second post-conviction claim (hereinafter "Estrada claim"), Grist asserted

his right to due process as found under the 5th Amendment and his right to effective assistance of counsel as found under the 6th Amendment have both been violated by the Court using an outdated psycosexual [sic] evaluation that was ordered by the court and prepared in violation of the 5th Amendment right to be free from self-incrimination.

(R., p.15.)

Grist further asserted (verbatim):

The District Court originally ordered the petitioner to submit to a psycosexual evaluation at the sentencing phase of his first trial. At this time petitioner had the right to effective assistance of counsel in regard to be fully advised about not only the right to refuse such an order to take such a test, but a given right to be advised by counsel of the advantages and disadvantages of taking the evaluation and as to how any adverse information that was formulated as a result of the evaluation could and would be used against the petitioner. In this regard trial counsel representation completely failed in this matter as he failed to advise about any adverse effects that could be a repercusion from the evaluation or that the petitioner had a right to refuse to participate in this matter. To further compound the neglect, counsel should of informed the petitioner that they, the defense could initiate their own evaluation and retain the discretion on whether to use any information from the evaluation or not. This issue brings into play the holdings found under the Idaho case of Estrada Vs. State[6]

The evaluation was taken in violation of the petitioners 5th Amendment and is tainted States trial discovery. The use of this inflamatory information should of been objected to in petitioners first trial, but specifically objected to its use in petitioners re-trial. For trial counsel to fail to object for its use in petitioners second trial is a blantant disregard for his clients best interest and is ineffective

⁶ Estrada v. State, 143 Idaho 558, 149 P.3d 833 (2006).

assistance of counsel on its 'face' as found under the applicable standard of [Strickland⁷].

(R., p.15.)

Although the state sought summary dismissal of Grist's <u>Estrada</u> claim (R., pp.38-40), the district court denied the request, characterizing the claim solely as one of ineffective assistance of counsel and stating, "there is a material issue of fact with respect to whether counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the use of the psychosexual evaluation at sentencing." (R., p.72.) Regarding the scope of the evidentiary hearing, the court stated:

Specifically, an evidentiary hearing must be held on the limited issue of whether counsel advised [Grist] regarding his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent with respect to the psychosexual evaluation; and concurrently, whether counsel advised [Grist] regarding his rights pertaining to the use of the psychosexual evaluation with respect to sentencing after the second trial.

(R., pp.72-73.)

At the evidentiary hearing, Grist called three witnesses – the defense attorney who represented him at his first trial and sentencing (Sunil Ramalingam), the defense attorney who represented him at his second trial and sentencing (William Fitzgerald), and himself. (See generally 5/10/2013 Tr.) The evidence Grist presented at that hearing revolved around Ramalingam's advice in relation to Grist's participation in the psychosexual evaluation and Fitzgerald's advice in relation to whether Grist should participate in another evaluation prior to his second sentencing and whether Fitzgerald objected to use of the original evaluation. (Id.)

⁷ Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

After the evidentiary hearing, the court denied relief on Grist's Estrada claim. (See generally R., pp.154-169.) With respect to deficient performance, the court concluded Grist "met his burden with respect to the first prong of the *Strickland* analysis: trial counsel was deficient for failing to object to the trial court's review of the 2006 psychosexual evaluation." (R., p.161.) In support of this conclusion, the court noted:

The sole issue before this Court is whether trial counsel was ineffective at sentencing for failing to object to the use of the 2006 psychosexual evaluation at sentencing following the second trial in 2009. [Grist] participated in this evaluation but he had not been advised of his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent. The psychosexual evaluation was completed in 2006, prior to . . . Estrada[.] Attorney Sunil Ramalingan testified he did not advise [Grist] regarding his Fifth Amendment rights at the time [Grist] participated in the evaluation.

. .

In the case at hand, [Grist] argues that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the presentation of the psychosexual examination from 2006. The record is clear [Grist] was not advised of his rights with respect to the 2006 evaluation. There is no dispute that [Grist] was advised of his right with respect to a second evaluation, and as a result, [Grist] invoked his right to remain silent. The record does not provide evidence from the second trial that counsel objected to the use of the 2006 psychosexual evaluation at sentencing.

(R., p.158-160 (footnote omitted).)

The court, however, found Grist did not meet his burden of showing prejudice and therefore denied relief on Grist's <u>Estrada</u> claim. (R., pp.161-168.)

Grist does not challenge any of the district court's factual findings or legal conclusions. Instead, Grist complains the "district court erred in not considering

the Fifth Amendment violation" and asks the Court to remand for that purpose. (Appellant's Brief, p.11.) This Court should reject Grist's request for two reasons.

First, if Grist believed the district court failed to address part of his <u>Estrada</u> claim in its order denying relief after an evidentiary hearing, he was required to raise that argument to the district court. Rule 52(b), I.R.C.P. provides: "No party may assign as error the lack of findings unless the party raised such issue to the trial court by an appropriate motion." Because Grist did not "raise[] such issue to the trial court," his appellate claim of error related to the court's alleged failure to address part of his <u>Estrada</u> claim should not be considered.

Second, Grist's <u>Estrada</u> claim does not include a "stand alone" claim of a Fifth Amendment violation. As such, there can be no error in the court's failure to rule on such a "claim."

An application for post-conviction relief must "specifically set forth the grounds upon which the application is based, and clearly state the relief desired." I.C. § 19-4903; <u>Dunlap v. State</u>, 141 Idaho 50, 56, 106 P.3d 376, 382 (2004); <u>Monahan v. State</u>, 145 Idaho 872, 875, 187 P.3d 1247, 1250 (Ct. App. 2008). Pursuant to I.C. § 19-4908, "[a]Il grounds for relief must be raised in the original, supplemental, or amended application." <u>Monahan</u>, 145 Idaho at 875, 187 P.3d at 1250 (citing I.C. § 19-4908) (emphasis added); <u>Dunlap</u>, 141 Idaho at 56, 106 P.3d at 382. A ground for relief known to the petitioner but not set forth in the original, supplemental or amended application is waived. I.C. § 19-4908. <u>Lake v. State</u>, 126 Idaho 333, 882 P.2d 988 (Ct. App. 1994); <u>see also Kelly v. State</u>, 149 Idaho 517, 523-24, 236 P.3d 1277, 1283-84 (2010) ("It is clearly established

under Idaho law that a cause of action not raised in a party's pleadings may not be considered on summary judgment nor may it be considered for the first time on appeal.") (citations and internal quotation marks omitted); Cole v. State, 135 Idaho 107, 110-11, 15 P.3d 820, 823-24 (2000) (district court did not err in summarily dismissing post-conviction petition without considering claims neither alleged in the original petition, nor properly before the court in an amended petition filed without leave of the court).

Although Grist unquestionably cited the Fifth Amendment as part of his Estrada claim, his reference to the Fifth Amendment was merely a component of his Sixth Amendment ineffective assistance of counsel claim. interpretation of Grist's claim, which is clearly how the district court understood it, is consistent with Grist's reliance on Estrada and Strickland. Strickland is the quintessential case relied on by petitioners advancing an ineffective assistance of counsel claim and the Court in Estrada simply applied Strickland to advice relating to a psychosexual exam. Indeed, the Court's analysis in Estrada began with an examination of "whether a court-ordered psychosexual evaluation constitutes a critical stage of litigation at which the Sixth Amendment right to counsel applies." 143 Idaho at 561, 149 P.3d at 836 (emphasis added). Concluding that a psychosexual evaluation is a critical stage that entitles a defendant "to at least the advice of counsel regarding his participation in the psychosexual evaluation," the Court evaluated whether Estrada was denied the effective assistance of counsel in relation thereto. Id. at 563, 149 P.3d at 838. That analysis was conducted within the Strickland framework. Id. at 563-565,

149 P.3d at 838-840. Although the Court in Estrada discussed "the significance and extent of a defendant's right against self-incrimination" it did so in the context of "evaluating the potential deficiency of Estrada's attorney" because whether counsel was deficient depended on whether "Estrada could assert the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination during the psychosexual evaluation." 143 Idaho at 563-564, 149 P.3d at 838-839. Grist's reliance on Strickland and Estrada supports the conclusion (and the district court's opinion) that his Estrada claim was a Sixth Amendment claim, not a Sixth Amendment claim and a freestanding Fifth Amendment claim. And, the evidence Grist presented at the evidentiary hearing is consistent with this interpretation of the scope of Grist's Estrada claim.

Grist also argues that the district court's conclusion that counsel was deficient for failing to object to consideration of the psychosexual evaluation at the second sentencing includes an "[i]mplicit . . . conclusion that an objection to the use of the PSE would have been sustained because use of the PSE would violate the Fifth Amendment." (Appellant's Brief, p.11.) Grist is incorrect. The deficiency found by the district court was the failure to object to the use of the psychosexual evaluation at Grist's second sentencing because the evaluation was conducted without the benefit of advice regarding the right not to participate (R., pp.158-161), which is a different question than whether "use of the PSE would violate the Fifth Amendment." Use of a psychosexual evaluation in which the defendant voluntarily participates does not result in a Fifth Amendment violation. See Minnesota v. Murphy, 465 U.S. 420, 427-29 (1984) (Fifth

Amendment right against self-incrimination is not self-executing but must be affirmatively invoked). While Grist may not have invoked his right not to participate because he was unaware of the right, that lack of awareness presents a Sixth Amendment question, not a Fifth Amendment question.

Finally, if this Court finds Grist's petition does allege a freestanding claim of a Fifth Amendment violation based on the court's consideration of the evaluation at his second sentencing, the state notes that Grist's claim that such an allegation would require the state to prove "the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt" is without merit. (Appellant's Brief, p.11.) A freestanding Fifth Amendment claim would be subject to dismissal in post-conviction because it is a claim that could have been raised on direct appeal. I.C. § 19-4901(b). And, because Grist did not object to consideration of the evaluation at his second sentencing (see R., p.160), it would have been his burden to show a "reasonable probability" that consideration of the evaluation "affected the outcome" of his sentence, State v. Skunkcap, --- P.3d ----, 2014 WL 2726932 *14 (2014), not the state's burden to show any error was harmless.

Grist has failed to show error in the district court's denial of post-conviction relief and has failed to establish any basis for remanding this case.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests that this Court affirm the district court's denial of post-conviction relief.